



ARPA ORDER NO. 2930 NR 154-374



ISI/RR-77-57 February 1977



William C. Mann

Man-Machine Communication Research: Final Report

MAR 18 1917

The research reported herein is supported by the Personnel and Training Research Programs of the Office of Naval Research (Code 458), Arlington VA 22217, Contract Authority Identification Number NR 154-374, Contract N00014-75-C-0710, under ARPA Order Number 2930 from the Cybernetics Technology Office of the Advanced Research Projects Agency. It is a continuation of the work of a previous contract, MDA903 74 C 0289 of Defense Supply Service - Washington under ARPA Order Number 2712. The report is approved for public release; distribution is unlimited. Reproduction in whole or in part is permitted for any purpose of the United States Government. Opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect policy of any agency of the United States Government.

INFORMATION SCIENCES INSTITUTE

4676 Admiralty Way/ Marina del Rey/California 90291 (213) 822-1511

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA



ADA037108

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Date Entered) READ INSTRUCTIONS BEFORE COMPLETING FORM **REPORT DOCUMENTATION PAGE** 2. GOVT ACCESSION ISI/RR-77-57 TITLE (and Subtitle) OD COVERED MAN-MACHINE COMMUNICATION RESEARCH Research FINAL REPORT PERFORMING ORG. REPORT NUMBER CONTRACT OR GRANT NUMBER(+) AUTHOR(.) N00014-75-C-0710 10 William C. Mann MDA903-74-C-0289 PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS PROGRAM ELEMENT, PROJECT, TASK AREA & WORK UNIT NUMBERS USC/Information Sciences Institute 61153N RR042-06-01 4676 Admiralty Way RR042-06 NR154-374 Marina del Rey, CA 90291 -REPORT DATE 11. CONTROLLING OFFICE NAME AND ADDRESS Cybernetics Technology Office February 677 Advanced Research Projects Agency 13. NUMBER OF PAGES 1400 Wilson Blvd., Arlington, VA 22209 14. MONITORING AGENCY NAME & ADDRESS(II different from Controlling Office) 23 15. SECURITY CLASS. (of this report) Personnel and Training Research Program UNCLASSIFIED Office of Naval Research - Code 458 800 N. Quincy Street Arlington, VA 22217 16. DISTRIBUTION STATEMENT (of this Report) 154. DECLASSIFICATION/DOWNGRADING SCHEDULE Approved for public release; distribution unlimited STATEMENT (of the abstract enter KR9420601 18. SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES 19. KEY WORDS (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identity by block number) artificial intelligence, cognitive psychology, dialogue, linguistic, model, process, computer, computer-assisted instruction, terminal, policy, equipment, CAI, CMI, teleconferencing, ARPANET 20. ABSTRACT (Continue on reverse side if necessary and identity by block number) (OVER) DD 1 JAN 73 1473 EDITION OF I NOV 65 IS OBSOLETE IB UNCLASSIFIED S/N 0102-014-6601 SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE (When Dets Entored) 407952

UNCLASSIFIED SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

20. ABSTRACT

This is the final report of a multifaceted research and development effort in man-machine communication. The general goal of the program is to facilitate existing and future man-machine communication in areas of high military impact, including rapidly expanding use of on-line computing in communications and command and control. Highlights of the accomplishments of this research include:

- identification of major causes of man-machine communication difficulty for the computer-naive;
- discovery of major communication strucures in human communication that have been left out of man-machine communication,"
- creation of a process model that exhibits these structures in a form which can be imitated directly in creating new man-machine communication processes,
- * creation of a new overview of how human communication functions in cooperative task-oriented activity, and
- assistance in ARPA policy formation on CAI equipment development.

The research tasks of the program include:

DIALOGUE PROCESS MODELING - an effort to discover human communication methods which can be introduced into man-machine communication; this effort developed new methods for creating human communication models, new ways to extract the recurrent features of communication from examples, and a new form of process model for computer comprehension of human communication;

CAI TERMINAL NEEDS SURVEY - a survey of the computer terminal needs for military CAI of 1980, including an assessment of relative payoffs of equipment and software development options and a technical plan for meeting the needs with commercial equipment.

COMPUTER ASSISTED INSTRUCTION TELECONFERENCE - developing capabilities for on-line interaction between scattered CAI experts;

TERMINAL MODIFICATION - producing modification kits which make plasma terminals into general purpose terminals for use on the ARPANET;

HUMAN ERROR PERFORMANCE - supplementing knowledge of normal human communication with knowledge of partial communication abilities.

UNCLASSIFIED

SECURITY CLASSIFICATION OF THIS PAGE(When Date Entered)

MAN-MACHINE COMMUNICATION RESEARCH: FINAL REPORT

by

William C. Mann

ISI/RR-77-57

February 1977

USC/Information Sciences Institute 4676 Admiralty Way Marina Del Rey, California 90291

The research reported herein is supported by the Personnel and Training Research Programs of the Office of Naval Research (Code 458), Arlington VA 22217, Contract Authority Identification Number NR 154-374, Contract N00014-75-C-0710, under ARPA Order Number 2930 from the Cybernetics Technology Office of the Advanced Research Projects Agency. It is a continuation of the work of a previous contract, MDA903 74 C 0289 of Defense Supply Service - Washington under ARPA Order Number 2712. The report is approved for public release; distribution is unlimited. Reproduction in whole or in part is permitted for any purpose of the United States Government. Opinions expressed herein are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect policy of any agency of the United States Government.

This report is the Final Report for both contracts.

113	St. P. S.J. Sim	0
INAINU TOIL	1	
ISTI-IGATION	Lannan managed -	
DISTRIBUTIO	N/AVAILABILITY C	
Distriautia Dist.	N/AVAILADILITY C	till
	RYANLANDIN C RYANL RID/M SPL	tile

CONTENTS

Page

Abstract	3
Acknowledgments	4
Overview	5
Dialogue Process Modeling Task	5
Task Goals	5
Specific Results	7
A New Characterization of Communication	9
Major Deficiencies in Modern Man-Machine Communication	11
CAI Terminal Needs Survey Task	12
Computer Assisted Instruction Task	12
Terminal Modification Task	13
Human Error Performance Task	13
Recommendations for Future Research and Development	15
Recommendations for Application	15
Recommendations for Future Research	16
Project Reports in Order of Appearance	17
Other References	19

2

ABSTRACT

This is the final report of a multifaceted research and development effort in man-machine communication. The general goal of the program is to facilitate existing and future man-machine communication in areas of high military impact, including rapidly expanding use of on-line computing in communications and command and control. Highlights of the program's accomplishments include:

- identification of major causes of man-machine communication difficulty for computer-naive people,
- discovery of major communication structures in human communication that have been left out of man-machine communication,
- creation of a process model that exhibits these structures in a form which can be imitated directly in creating new man-machine communication processes,
- creation of a new overview of how human communication functions in cooperative task-oriented activity,
- assistance in ARPA policy formation on CAI equipment development.

The research tasks of the program include:

DIALOGUE PROCESS MODELING - an effort to discover human communication methods which can be introduced into man-machine communication; this effort developed new case analysis methods for creating human communication models, new observer-based techniques which extract recurrent features of communication from natural examples, and a new workspace-oriented design of a process model for computer comprehension of human communication;

CAI TERMINAL NEEDS SURVEY - a survey of the computer terminal needs for military CAI of 1980, including an assessment of relative payoffs of equipment and software development options and a technical plan for meeting the needs with commercial equipment;

COMPUTER ASSISTED INSTRUCTION TELECONFERENCE - developing capabilities for on-line interaction between scattered CAI experts;

TERMINAL MODIFICATION - producing modification kits which convert plasma terminals into general purpose terminals for use on the ARPANET;

HUMAN ERROR PERFORMANCE - supplementing knowledge of normal human communication with knowledge of partial communication abilities.

3

ACK NOW LEDGMENTS

This research was performed by a multidisciplinary team. On the Dialogue Process Modeling task the team included James A. Levin and James A. Moore for the entire period, James H. Carlisle for the first half, and Robert Amsler, Armar A. Archbold, Timothy C. Diller, James Heringer, Paul Martin, Leroy C. Richardson and Robert Simmons for shorter intervals. Other tasks included work by F. Roy Carlson, Louis Gallenson, Thomas H. Martin and Monty C. Stanford for the duration of the tasks on which they have reported.

MAN-MACHINE COMMUNICATION RESEARCH: FINAL REPORT

OVERVIEW

Several very diverse aspects of man-machine communication were addressed by this work, ranging from fundamental research into how people actually communicate to development of equipment and tutorial methods so that particular people could quickly become able to use particular computer systems and programs. Part of the project focused on Computer-Aided Instruction (CAI), including a policy study comparing an investment in military CAI terminal development to various alternatives, and also preparation for a teleconference of CAI experts scattered across the country, communicating through the ARPANET. The remainder focused on the general difficulties of modern man-machine communication, and in particular on reducing its alien and bizarre appearance to computer users who are not computation specialists.

The work began in late 1974, taking up several CAI-related tasks which were already planned and in progress within ARPA. In early 1975, research was begun on what became the largest single task, creating a model of natural human communication which could serve as a guide and a source of corrective suggestions and processes to improve the sorry condition of man-machine communication as it existed (and still exists). All of the tasks except the Dialogue Process Modeling Task (and one small supplementary task) were completed in 1975.

The Dialogue Process Modeling Task was particularly productive of knowledge and opportunities. In addition to a process model of how people understand dialogue, it produced a new view of the nature of their communication. Judged in this view, modern man-machine communication schemes are missing some major parts; the model provides stereotypes for creating the right kinds of parts.

DIALOGUE PROCESS MODELING TASK

Task Goals -

The number of people who are using computers regularly in their military jobs is already large, and is rapidly increasing. Despite the diversity of systems and applications, there is a common pattern of difficulties in the man-machine communication required to use the computer systems effectively. Even the up-to-date timesharing systems are difficult for many people to use.

The pattern of difficulty typically includes these symptoms of communication problems:

• Learning to use the system effectively takes a long time.

- The system is "brittle," unable to function effectively with even minor variations in its human input.
- The system appears unnecessarily complex for its role.
- The system is unresponsive to the immediate needs of its users.
- Many details must be mastered by the users before the system becomes an effective tool.
- Communicating with the system has little continuity or sense of direction, making much repetition necessary.
- The user is not helped to decide what to do next or how to get the system to achieve particular purposes.

These might be considered to be simple design defects, but they have been around for a long time, they are found in the systems of all suppliers, and they have resisted serious efforts to relieve them through command language design and development of successive generations of interfaces. They are really symptoms of a much more profound problem.

People communicate with each other using methods that have little to do with current man-machine communication methods. When they attempt to communicate with *machines*, their habitual methods fail or are severely restricted. Computer systems present an alien and bizarre appearance because their communication methods have never been properly reconciled to those of people. Based on this perception of the problem, the goal of the Dialogue Process Modeling Task was to create radical improvements in an actual man-machine communication application.* The goal was to be achieved in three steps:

1. Create a model of human communication, building it entirely out of computer processes.

2. Verify that the model could effectively interpret the kind of human communication it was intended for, identifying parts of the model exhibiting high success rates.

3. Implant these processes into the man-machine interface of an existing system, modifying them so that they perform the same functions in the new environment.

While these goals were adequate to guide the research, with hindsight they appear to be based on an underestimate of the systematic deficiencies of today's systems. The sorts of

* An early report presenting this perception of the problem in detail (without the later research findings concerning use of goal knowledge) is found in Why Things Are So Bad for the Computer-Naive User by William C. Mann, ISI/RR-75-32, March 1975.

changes required to implant well-verified processes into modern interfaces are *fundamental changes* with *pervasive effects*, comparable to the changes required to convert a simple stadium into a general-purpose public auditorium.

All of the task effort in fact went into the first of these three steps. This was due in part to the magnitude of what was found and in part to a decision by ARPA not to carry out the original three-year plan in its entirety. Thus the primary goal of the task was to create a process model of human communication.

Specific Results -

On Model Performance Standards: At the beginning of the research there was an issue of what sorts of standards or benchmarks of performance would be appropriate for a new model. Existing practice in artificial intelligence was inadequate, and serious special issues were raised because the research was based on case analysis rather than the more traditional practice of building a system to perform some abstractly-specified function. There was a need to identify specific human-communication phenomena which were frequent, reliably identifiable, centrally involved in communication and independent of the task being performed by the communicators.

Over twenty phenomenon definitions were tried in the process of finding a suitable set. After considerable refinement and informal testing on naturally-occurring dialogues, six phenomena were defined in terms of judgment-procedures which people could employ to identify them. They were called Repeated Reference, Topic Structure, Requests, Similar Expressions, Expression of Comprehension and Correction Actions. For each of these, explicit instructions were prepared for an Observer to annotate dialogue for occurrences, including a number of judgments to be applied to each occurrence. These are found in Observation Methods for Iluman Dialogue, by William C. Mann, James A. Moore, James A. Levin and James H. Carlisle, ISI/RR-75-33, June 1975.

These procedures are not specific to either the model which was built or the kind of text being annotated. They are suitable for judging and comparing a variety of models which claim to interpret natural language in agreement with the way people do. They are potentially useful as the basis of system benchmarks for a diversity of future systems which model human communication. All six phenomena are currently only weakly modeled in even the best of today's text- comprehension systems. There will be discernable degrees of success in modeling these phenomena for a long time to come.

These standards are designed to fit into a general system performance assessment method which was also developed as part of this project. It compares system behavior with corresponding human judgments, identifying agreements and disagreements. It is reported in *Dialogue-Based Research in Man-Machine Communication*, William C. Mann, ISI/RR-75-41, November 1975.

On the Reliability of the Standards: After the phenomena were identified and suitably defined there remained an issue of whether they were reliably identifiable. Would annotations by an Observer be representative of widely shared responses to language, or would they be controversial and personal responses? If they were idiosyncratic or difficult to find, then it would be unreasonable to evaluate models on their correspondence to human judgments of these phenomena. On the other hand, if these judgments were easy to make, and there was widespread agreement on the outcomes, then it is quite reasonable to require that a model which claims to interpret correctly should in particular have its interpretations correspond to these judgments.

In order to determine which was the case a reliability test of the observation methods was devised. This involved creating some new reliability measures for hierarchially structured nominal data, which is what the observation methods produce. These measures are somewhat novel in that they do not require that the items to be judged be identified before the test, nor do they require that there be an external absolute standard of what constitutes correct judgment. They are therefore suitable for these methods, in which the Observer selects what to annotate and all Observers are regarded as equally competent (and as competent as the test designers) at the task.

These measures were applied to a variety of dialogues drawn from two sources: the Apollo-13 spacecraft-to-ground communications and typed dialogues between computer operators and computer users on a timesharing system. The results in all of the five categories tested were that the Observers were achieving extremely high reliability, at least equivalent to having perfect agreement half of the time and 3-out-of-4 agreement the other half. This was surprising to some and gratifying to all, since content-based judgments of human communication have a generally poor reputation for reliability.

The results of these tests indicate that judgments on these phenomena represent shared, easily accessed knowledge about communication.

These results were reported in An Assessment of Reliability of Dialogue-Annotation Instructions, by William C. Mann, James H. Carlisle, James A. Moore and James A. Levin, ISI/RR-77-54, January 1977. An issue remains of how much training in the techniques and categories of phenomena is needed before these levels of reliability can be achieved. The Observers used were the researchers who developed the methods, who were therefore highly trained. Subsequent research using other Observers will be needed to address this issue.

On Interpretation: Another major technical issue is identification of interactions between utterances in language interpretation. In dialogue the correct interpretation of almost every utterance depends on previous utterances by both parties. These dependencies have often been labeled "context," and there are many known ways to produce and demonstrate interactions, but there is no strong technical characterization of them at the level of detail of the phenomena considered in this research.

This research produced two results which help to characterize "context." First, the knowledge of what goals a speaker holds at the time when he creates his utterance has a central role in the interpretation of that utterance. The previous text may show recently acquired goals, or they may be long-standing ones. There is no limit to how far the evidence for a speaker's goals may be from the point where it is relied upon, and so no limit to the possible extent of this sort of "context." However, there need not be a great deal of this sort of information.

Second, there are important collections of goals and goal-pursuit information which recur frequently, are known to users of the language, and involve both parties in an essential way. These knowledge structures, which we have modeled using a construct called the Dialogue-game, are a source of a great deal of implicit communication and abbreviation. There is so much information conveyed implicitly by this particular mechanism that the later parts of a dialogue are often incomprehensible if this knowledge is not available to the interpreter. People consistently reveal some of their goals in dialogue, and they rely on the other party to recognize the goals and interpret whatever is said as motivated by those goals. The Dialogue-game knowledge structures are thus essential for both communicators in normal connected dialogue.

Identifying and characterizing these goal-regulated interpretation mechanisms is one of the major outcomes of this research. It is described in a project report, Dialogue-Games: Meta-Communication Structures for Natural Language Interaction, by James A. Levin and James A. Moore, ISI/RR-77-53, January 1977.

On Using the Knowledge: For any collection of knowledge about communication, whether it be new or old, there is the issue of what sort of interpretation scheme could possibly take it all into account correctly. In this research task this is a central issue, and it is addressed by designing a collection of processes which are jointly capable of performing interpretations of utterances in dialogue.

The result is called the Dialogue Model System. It consists of six autonomous interacting subsystems which use a common workspace for both their input and output. The content of the workspace represents the knowledge which one of the communicating parties is attending to. The changes in this workspace are the comprehension of the ongoing dialogue.

Two processors are devoted to inference, one to recognition of goal changes, one to interpretation of pronouns, one to bringing relevant new information from general long-term memory into attention, and one to bringing new external information into attention. They have been described in detail in *A Coal-Oriented Model of Natural Language Interaction*, by James A. Moore, James A. Levin and William C. Mann, ISI/RR-77-52, January 1977.

Several other short studies related to the Dialogue Model System were part of this project. They dealt with methods and content of model extensions, including methods for identifying and resolving references, representation of argument structure, match processing and model evaluation. They were reported in *Working Papers in Dialogue Modeling, Volume 1*, by James A. Levin and Armar A. Archbold, ISI/RR/77-55, January 1977, and *Working Papers in Dialogue Modeling, Volume 2*, by William C. Mann, Greg W. Scragg and Armar A. Archbold, ISI/RR-77-56, January 1977.

A New Characterization of Communication

Beyond these specific products the research has led to a new general view of communication which has strong implications for both man-machine and interpersonal communication. Communication has often been seen as simply message-sending. In that view the principal problem for the recipient is to "decode" the message, to somehow look up or construct its "meaning" in correspondence to its symbolic form.

That view has led to major emphasis on studying syntax, constructing grammars, defining the semantics of languages and on schemes for building a "meaning" for a sentence out of the "meanings" of its parts. It does not emphasize either the effects of using language or the comprehension of the relationships between sentences in connected text. This is the conventional view that in different forms dominates both man-machine communication research and natural language processing research.

In the new view, communication is pursuit of goals by the communicators. Some goals persist over many "messages" and influence their interpretation. There are simple and complex plans for communicating which are tacitly known to the communicators. These plans are used by the communicators to produce a large fraction of the total communication implicitly. The explicit "meaning" of the individual messages is only a small fraction of the total conveyed.

The communicator "makes sense" out of what he receives if and only if he fits it into a coherent knowledge of the sender's goals. This goal knowledge comes from two sources: the goals explicitly revealed by the sender and those goals which are parts of the communication plans which the parties share as tacitly known conventions. All of the communicator's knowledge of symbolic structure, including syntax, semantics and vocabulary knowledge, are parts of this goal-oriented interpretation scheme.

Interpreting what someone says is done projectively; it is a reconstruction of how he came to say it, with particular attention to why it was said and what purposes it tends to advance. The crucial information needed for this kind of interpretation relates means to ends, actions to results, and activities to the goals which they advance. Speaking or sending a message is seen as a particular action or set of actions. Initiating one of the conventional communication plans (such as the plan for soliciting help in performing a task) is likewise an action. Just as with physical actions, these actions make changes in relevant parts of the state of the world. Unlike physical actions, these must be recognized for what they are by the recipient to be effective.

Communication is seen as cooperative in a new way. Many of the frequently used plans require the active participation of both parties in order to succeed. Correcting errors, getting instructions, getting permission and asking for information all require both parties' active pursuit. There are conventional ways to do these things. They require engaging the other party in joint pursuit of a plan whose outline is known to both beforehand.

These are not merely added details or embellishments on a conventional view. Discovery that interpretation activities based on immediate goals are central in human dialogue opens up entirely new possibilities for the technologies and sciences concerned with communication with people. It makes possible the application of a great deal of existing research on problem solving, means-ends analysis, design and planning to the understanding of human communication. It integrates the knowledge of language with the already developed knowledge of purposeful system behavior.

Future research based on this new characterization will lead to improved man-machine communication, especially for the computer-naive. The lack of continuity and sense of direction in today's machine interfaces, their excessive rigidity and their appearance of complexity all arise because the machine doesn't grasp the intent of what the person is doing. By adding to machine interfaces the knowledge of intended effects, many new kinds of processes which use this information can also be added. Help with method selection, relaxation of the need to "specify everything", immediately applicable machine-developed plans for using the machine are all made feasible when the machine knows *why* as well as how to do things. Specific recommendations for future research are included at the end of this report.

Major Deficiencies in Modern Man-Machine Communication

Given the understanding we now have of the large-scale factors which govern human communication, it is easy to see why man-machine communication could seem alien, highly restrictive, uncomprehending and awkward. It is so because the major regulation and interpretation structures are all missing.

We compare human dialogue and typical man-machine communication practice for some of these features in Table 1 below. The table designates a "sender" and a "receiver" which should be identified with the person and the computer respectively in the man-machine communication case. (This puts the man-machine interface in the most favorable light, since typically the man-to-machine communication is schematized by parametric command languages, and the machine-to-man communication is not schematized at all.)

TABLE 1

	HUMAN	MAN-
	DIALOGUE	MACHINE
SENDER'S GOALS KNOWN TO RECIPIENT	YES	NO
PARTICIPANTS CAN DECLARE GOALS AND COMMANDS	YES	NO
GOALS PERSIST OVER SEVERAL MESSAGES	YES	NO
GOALS IDENTIFIED WITH EACH MESSAGE	YES	NO
COMMUNICATION PLANS USED	YES	LITTLE
IMPLICIT COMMUNICATION TAKES PLACE	YES	LITTLE

Conventional man-machine communication can give the computer user a sense of always operating "out of context," of having to continually respecify what is relevant to performing a desired sequence of actions. In human communication it is the goal structures which carry the knowledge of what is relevant. Man-machine communication gives a sense of aimlessness, undirectedness, and lack of topic because there is no analogous body of knowledge being used to facilitate and interpret the communication. Computer-naive users are especially hampered by these deficiencies in even the up-to-date systems. Since the military has a particularly strong stake in getting computer-naive users to use their systems, some specific recommendations for effective use of the new knowledge from this task appear at the end of this report.

CAI TERMINAL NEEDS SURVEY TASK

This task was a study of research and development alternatives in Computer-Assisted Instruction (CAI).

A policy study was conducted to assess the anticipated payoff of an investment by ARPA in the development of a new family of terminals for use by the military in Computer Assisted Instruction. Military and civilian experts in various phases of CAI interacted during four rounds of policy development activity using questionnaires and free-form written discussions. A guidance document for military decisionmakers was prepared, stressing the finding that an investment in the improvement and development of new forms of teaching software would have a higher payoff than design of a new family of computer terminals.

The survey was reported in A Policy Assessment of Priorities and Functional Needs for the Military Computer-Assisted Instruction Terminal by Thomas H. Martin, Monty C. Stanford, F. Roy Carlson and William C. Mann, ISI/RR-75-44, December 1975, prepared jointly by the USC Annenberg School of Communication and USC Information Sciences Institute.

Another part of this task had the goal of making as specific as possible the recommendations of the survey described above. Since the survey turned out favoring the currently forthcoming style of commercial terminals, this subtask concentrated on showing how these terminals could be made particularly useful and flexible in military CAI service. This included demonstrating that the major "special purpose" functional requirements of military CAI terminals could in fact be satisfied through the customization flexibilities found in terminals containing a microprocessor chip controller and buss communication between modules.

The results of this subtask were reported in An Approach to Providing a User Interface for Military Computer-Aided Instruction in 1980 by Louis Gallenson, ISI/RR-75-43, November 1975.

COMPUTER-ASSISTED INSTRUCTION TASK

The major goal of this task was to facilitate interaction between various experts in CAI who were widely separated but addressing closely related problems. The facilitation was to be accomplished through a computer-mediated conference using a variant of an available teleconferencing program accessed through the ARPANET. The effort of this task included providing the communications facilities, computational resources, and necessary instruction in the use of the systems and programs involved.

The task was terminated by ARPA when it became clear that it could not be done in the economical and timely fashion originally envisioned, primarily because the terminal

modification kits required would be seriously late, and because of unforeseen equipment maintenance and communication expenses.

However, the task did develop methods for getting people to move quickly from unfamiliarity with the systems and programs involved into a self-sufficient competent state in which they could operate all of the system parts in a simple way and could acquire additional skills as needed without outside help. The methods use a combination of written documentation, personal introductory instruction and built-in help facilities within the programs to be used. These programs included the ZCONFER teleconferencing program (a modification of Forum-5), the XED editor and the MSG message processing system, all under the TENEX operating system on the ARPANET.

The key presentational device was a tutorial, documented in A Tutorial for Use of the TENEX Electronic Notebook-Conference (TEN-C) System on the ARPANET by James H. Carlisle, ISI/RR-75-38, August 1975.

TERMINAL MODIFICATION TASK

This task involved supporting and extending an ongoing ARPA effort to increase the flexibility of existing plasma terminals. Major goals included:

1. Making the plasma terminals capable of using the ARPANET without modifications to network conventions or programs.

2. Operating the plasma terminals on the PLATO system at the University of Illinois using the ARPANET as the communications medium (rather than the conventional dedicated lines).

3. Assessing the relative merits of the ARPANET and dedicated lines for this purpose.

Twelve Terminal Modification Kits were developed and documented by the University of California at Santa Barbara (UCSB) under subcontract, tested by ISI and delivered for use. The final UCSB report concludes that ARPANET communication is a viable option for these terminals only with a full mini-processor at the PLATO site. A full set of hardware and study documentation has been provided to ARPA in a set of working papers, and is also part of each of the Terminal Modification Kits.

IIUMAN ERROR PERFORMANCE TASK

This task supplemented the Dialogue Process Modeling Task. It influenced the design of the Dialogue Model System at the system organization level. Its major goal was to discover patterns of communication which could be explained on the basis of a hypothetical three-step sequence:

1. A person has a collection of processes which, when they are all working properly, jointly support communication.

2. The person suffers a traumatic aphasia which disables some of his processes but not others.

3. The person exhibits an organized, stable partial communication capability.

This goal was pursued in an exploratory way through an informal cooperative arrangement with the Center for Communication Disorders of Los Angeles County Harbor General Hospital. Adult outpatients with various communication disorders were observed, and discussions were held with staff members on how the disorders might be represented in a systematic fashion.

The effort devoted to this task was very small, but sufficient to yield some useful observations which are reviewed below.

The amount of detail required in useful system design information greatly exceeds the amount of detail available in conventional diagnostic descriptions of adult aphasics. Furthermore, diagnostic descriptions and the associated theoretical works are not organized around processes or taxonomies of processes. It is therefore absolutely necessary for the researcher to deal directly with the phenomena of disturbed communication, since the available abstractions are inappropriate for his uses.

There is a general recognition on our part and on the part of aphasiologists and communication therapists that disturbed communication is more systematic, patternful and predictable in form than is captured by the present system of diagnostic descriptions. Because of the underlying diversity of phenomena, data on groups of patients, grouped according to general diagnostic description, may obscure important qualitative differences between individuals.

This sort of enterprise is dominated by problems of complexity, which arise in part from the fact that most patients have a combination of deficits rather than simple ones.

The most important and useful phenomena for communication modeling purposes are the defects of the fairly articulate, lightly damaged individual. The factors which make this sort of individual an ideal subject also make it very unlikely that he will be a clinical patient, even an outpatient. It would therefore be useful to work with individuals who have very simple deficits, who are, from the clinical point of view, fully recovered.

The most useful data for modeling are those which exhibit functional distinctness of similar capabilities. If a patient can perform action A but not similar action A', and another can perform A' but not A, then A and A' are seen to be functionally distinct despite their similarity. One of the serious challenges is to create reliable ways to make such determinations for various kinds of actions which are susceptible to disturbance.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE RESEARCII AND DEVELOPMENT

This research has created many new opportunities for improvement of man-machine communication and many new opportunities to increase our understanding of both man-machine and human communication. Our choices of top priority development activities and future research are described in the two sections below.

Recommendations for Application

How can the results of this research be used to benefit man-machine communication? Current practice in man-machine dialogue leaves out the principal mechanisms and kinds of interaction that regulate human dialogue. This is the source of many kinds of difficulty between people and computers, and constitutes a fundamental pervasive limitation on what can be achieved in interface design. The highest priority in man-machine communication research should be given to create an experimental system which performs goal-regulated communication with its users.

This system should fulfill the following design constraints. It should:

1. be continuously aware of goals which each user is pursuing.

2. identify a particular goal with each requested action.

3. contain knowledge of plans (including both goals and actions) for performing the tasks.

4. contain knowledge of action-goal (means-ends) relationships for both machine actions and person actions, and be able to supply information about alternative ways to achieve goals.

5. be able to recognize and respond to satisfaction of goals and failure due to exhaustion of alternatives.

6. be able to impute the user's goals from his corresponding actions and action requests.

Such a system would be a major innovation, and it would contain the necessary prerequisites for helpful application of recent advances in the knowledge of planning.

The design of the interface and task-knowledge parts of the system should be generally patterned after the operation sequences of the Dialogue Model System. The control structure could borrow usefully from the Hearsay-il system, and the knowledge representation from Sacerdoti's Procedural Nets.

Recommendations for Future Research

The present research has revealed the profound contrast between the nature of human dialogue and that of current man-machine dialogue. It has identified important additions which can be made to man-machine systems, but the account so far is still sketchy and incomplete. We are impressed with the number of convenient tricks, abbreviation methods, approximate expression devices and other practices which we find in human communication. They are used with ease by everyone, and could profitably be imitated, but they have not yet been studied in a way that would make their structure clear and make imitation possible. The sort of case analysis employed in this research could profitably be extended in several ways. To benefit man-machine communication, these seem particularly important:

• More dialogue should be modeled. The scope should be expanded to include both peer dialogue and superior/subordinate dialogue. The latter has not been studied, but it is the closest human analogue to the current man-machine relationship. Part of the effort should be specifically directed at characterizing how a helpful subordinate or employee communicates.

• The process description of the communicator as a problem solver should be developed in greater detail, with primary emphasis on operator identification and description.

• More detail is needed in several parts of the models. Reference resolution, use of hypotheticals, and control structure should especially be emphasized.

In addition to this research for man-machine communication, there should be an effort to model message interchange. A program specifically aimed at modeling formal record traffic in military message systems would eventually have a large payoff in automatic aid to high levels of authority in Command and Control. The research target should be a message analysis system which identifies messages which are relevant to the goals of an ongoing crisis.

PROJECT REPORTS IN ORDER OF APPEARANCE

- Mann, W. C., Why Things Are So Bad for the Computer-Naive User, ISI/RR-75-32, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Mann, W. C., Moore, J. A., Levin, J. A., & Carlisle, J. H., Observation Methods for Iluman Dialogue, ISI/RR-75-33, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Carlisle, J. H., A Tutorial for Use of the TENEX Electronic Notebook-Conference (TEN-C) System on the ARPANET, ISI/RR-75-38, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Gallenson, L., An Approach to Providing a User Interface for Military Computer-Aided Instruction in 1980, ISI/RR-75-43, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Mann, W. C., Dialogue-Based Research in Man-Machine Communication, ISI/RR-75-41, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Martin, T. H., Stanford, M. C., Carlson, F. R. & Mann, W. C., A Policy Assessment of Priorities and Functional Needs for the Military Computer-Assisted Instructional Terminal, ISI/RR-75-44, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1975.
- Levin, J. A., & Moore, J. A. Dialogue-games: A Process Model of Natural Language Interaction, Paper presented at the Artificial Intelligence and the Simulation of Behavior Summer Conference, Edinburgh, Scotland, July 1976.
- Moore, J. A., Levin, J. A., & Mann, W. C., A Goal-Oriented Model of Natural Language Interaction, ISI/RR-77-52, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977.
- Levin, J. A., & Moore, J. H., Dialogue-Games: Meta-Communication Structures for Natural Language Interaction, ISI/RR-77-53, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977.
- Mann, W. C., Carlisle, J. H., Moore, J. A., & Levin, J. A., An Assessment of Reliability of Dialogue Annotation Instructions, ISI/RR-77-54, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977.
- Levin, J. A. & Archbold, A. A., Working Papers in Dialogue Modeling, Volume 1. ISI/RR-77-55, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977.
- Mann, W. C., Scragg, G. W., & Archbold, A. A., Working Papers in Dialogue Modeling, Volume 2, ISI/RR-77-56, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977
- Mann, W. C., Man-Machine Communication Research: Final Report, ISI/RR-77-57, USC Information Sciences Institute, 1977.

Aspects of the work were also presented publicly at the 1975 National Computer Conference (NCC), the 1975 conference on Theoretical Issues in Natural Language Processing (TINLAP), the 1976 ACM Computer Science Conference, and the 1976 Fall Conference of the Association for Computational Linguistics (ACL).

OTHER REFERENCES

Erman, L. D, Fennell, R. D., Lesser, V. R., & Reddy, D. R. System Organizations for Speech Understanding, *Proceedings of the Third International Joint Conference on Artificial Intelligence*, Stanford University, 1973.

Sacerdoti, Earl D., A Structure for Plans and Behavior, Stanford Research Institute Artificial Intelligence Center Technical Note 109, August 1975. AC-S, Education Programs Education Center, MCDEC Quantico, VA 22134

AFHRL-AS IDr. G.A. Eckstrand) Hright-Patterson AFB Dhio 45433

ARI Field Unit - Leavenworth P.O.Box 3122 Ft. Leavenworth, KS 66027

Advanced Research Projects Agency Administrative Services 1400 Hilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209 Attn: Ardella Holloway

Air University Library RUL-LSE 76-443 Maxwell RFB, AL 36112

Prof. Earl A. Allulsi Code 287 Dept. of Psychology Old Dominion University Norfolk, VA 23508

Dr. Daniel Alpert Computer-Based Enducation Research Laboratory University of Illinois Urbana, IL 61801

Dr. John R. Anderson Dept. of Psychology Yale University New Haven, CT 06528

Armed Forces Staff College Norfolk, VA 23511 Attn: Library

Hs. Carole A. Bagley Applications Analyst Hinnesota Educational Computing Consortium 1925 Sather Ave. Lauderdale, NN 55113

Dr. James Baker U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Wilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209

Dr. H.A. Bertin, Scientific Director Offico of Naval Research Scientific Liaison Group-Tokyo American Embassy APO San Francisco 96503

Dr. Jack R. Borsting Provost & Academic Dean U.S. Naval Postgraduate School Montorey, CA 93940

Dr. John Brackett SofTech 460 Totten Pond Rd. Haltham, M9 02154

19 DISTRIBUTION LIST

Dr. Robert K. Branson 1A Tully Bldg. Florida State University Tallahassee, FL 32306

Dr. John Seeley Brown Bolt, Beranck, and Nowman, Inc. 50 Moulton St. Cambridge, MA 02138

Dr. Victor Bunderson Institute for Computer Uses in Education 355 EDLC Brigham Young University Provo, UT 84601

Dr. Ronald P. Carver School of Education University of Hissouri-Kansas City 5100 Rockhill Rd. Kansas City, MO 64110

Jacklyn Caselli ERIC Clearinghouse on Information Resources Stanford University School of Education - SCRUT Stanford, CA 94305

Century Research Corporation 4113 Lee Highway Arlington, VA 22207

Chairman, Leadership & Law Dept. Div. of Professional Development U.S. Naval Academy Annapolis, MD 21402

Chief of Naval Education and Training Support 10IA1 Pensacola, FL 32509

Dr. Kenneth E. Clark College of Arts & Sciences University of Rochester River Campus Station Rochester, NY 14627

Dr. Allan M. Collins Bolt, Beranek and Newman, Inc. 50 Moulton St. Cambridge, MA 02138

Dr. John J. Collins Essex Corporation 6305 Caminito Estrellado San Diego, CA 92120

Commandant U.S. Army Institute of Administration Attn: EA Fort Benjamin Harrison, IN 46216

Commanding Officer Naval Research Laboratory Code 2627 Washington, DC 20398 Commanding Officer Naval Health Research Center San Diego, CA 92152 Attn: Library

Capt. H.J. Connery, USN Navy Medical R&D Command NNMC, Bethesda, MD 20014

Dr. T.E. Cotterman AFHRL-ASR Wright Patterson AFB Ohio 45433

Mr. Joseph J. Cowan, Chief Psychological Research Branch IG-P-1-621 U.S. Coast Guard Headquarters Washington, DC 20590

DCDR, USAADIIINCEN Bldg. #1, A310 Attn: AT21-OED Library Ft. Benjamin Harrison, IN 46216

Dr. Ruth Day Dept. of Psychology Yale University 2 Hillhouse Ave. New Haven, CT 06520

Defense Documentation Center Cameron Station, Bldg. 5 Alexandria, VA 22314 Attn: TC

Director, Office of Manpower Utilization HQ, Marine Corps ICode MPUI BCB, Building 2009 Quantico, VA 22134

Director, Hanagement Information Systems Office OSD, M&RA Room 38917, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301

Dr. Donald Dansereau Dept. of Psychology Texas Christian University Fort Worth, TX 76129

Dr. Ralph Dusek U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Wilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

ERIC Facility-Acquisitions 4833 Rugby Ave. Bethesda, HD 20014

Dr. John Eschenbrenner McDonnell Douglas Astronautics Company-East PO Box 30204 St. Louis, MO 80230 Major I. N. Evonic Canadian Forces Porsonnel Aplied Research Unit 1107 Avenue Road Toronto, Ontario, CANADA

Dr. Beatrico Farr U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

Dr. Marshall J. Farr, Director (4) Personnol & Training Research Programs Office of Navy Research (Code 458) Arlington, VR 22217

Dr. James H. Fersti Employee Development: Training Technologist Bureau of Training U.S. Civil Service Commission Washington, DC 20415

Dr. Victor Fields Dept. of Psychology Montgomery College Rockville, MD 20850

Dr. John Ford Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152

Dr. Larry Francis University of Illinois Computer Based Educatonal Research Laboratory Champaign, Il 61801

Dr. John R. Frederiksen Bolt, Beranek & Newman, Inc. 50 Moulton St. Cambridge, MR 02138

Dr. Alfred R. Fregly AFOSR-NL, Building 410 Bolling AFB, DC 20332

Dr. Frederick C. Frick MIT Lincoln Laboratory Room D 268 PO Box 73 Lexington, NA 02173

Dr. Vernon S. Gerlach College of Education 146 Payne Bldg. B Arizona State University Tempe, AZ 85281

Dr. Robert Glaser Co-Director University of Pittsburgh 3939 O'Hara St. Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Capt. D.H. Gragg, HC, USN Head, Section on Medical Education Uniformed Services Univ. of the Health Sciences 6917 Arlington Road Bethesda, HD 20014

Dr. Duncan Hansor School of Education Memphis State University Memphis, TN 38118

Dr. Frank J. Harris U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

Col. Frank Hart, Director Training Management Institute U.S. Army, Bldg. 1725 Fort Eustis, VA 23604

Col. G.B. Howard U.S. Army Training Support Activity Fort Eustis, VA 23604

HumRRO-Columbus Office Suite 23 2601 Cross Country Dr. Clumbus, GA 31906

HumRRO-Ft. Knox Office P.O. Box 293 Fort Knox, KY 40121

HumRRO-Hestern Division 27657 Berwick Drive Carmel, CA 93921 ATTN: Library

Human Resources Research Organization 400 Plaza Bldg. Pace Blvd. at Fairfield Drive Pensacola, FL 32505

Dr. Earl Hunt Dept. of Psychology University of Washington Seattle, WA 98105

Instructional Technology Branch AFHRL Lowry AFB, CO 80230

Dr. Edgar Johnson U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Wilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

Dr. Hilson A. Judd McDonnell-Douglas Astronautics Co. East Loury AFB Denver, CO 80230

Dr. Arnold F. Kanarick Honeyall, Inc. 2600 Ridgeway Pkwy. Minneapolis, MN 55413

Dr. Hilton S. Katz, Chief Individual Training & Performance Evaluation Technical Area U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209 Dr. Steven H. Keele Dept. of Psychology University of Oregon Eugene, OR 97403

Dr. David Klahr Dept. of Psychology Carnegie-Mellon University Pittsburgh, PA 15213

Dr. Alma E. Lantz University of Denver Denver Research Institute Industrial Economics Division Denver, CO 80210

Dr. Sylvia R. Mayer INCIT) HQ Electronic System Division LG Hansom Field Bedford, NA 01730

Hilliam J. McLaurin Room 301 Internal Revenue Service 2221 Jefferson Davis Huy. Arlington, VA 22202

Dr. Donald E. Meyer U.S. Air Force ATC-XPTD Randolph AFB, TX 78148

Military Assistant for Human Resources Office of the Director of Defense Research & Engineering Room 3D129, The Pontagon Washington, DC 20301

Dr. Andrey R. Molnar Science Education Dev. & Res. National Science Foundation Washington, DC 20550

Dr. Ross L. Morgan IAFHRL-ASRI Wright-Patterson AFB Ohio 45433

Dr. Leo Munday Houghton Mifflin Co. P.O. Box 1970 Iowa City, IA 52240

Navy Personnel R&D Center Code 306 San Diego, CA 92152 Attn: Dr. James McGrath

Navy Personnel R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152 Attn: Dr. J.D. Fletcher

Navy Personnel R&D Center Code 1 San Diego, CA 92152 Attn: Dr. James McGrath

Navy Personnal R&D Center San Diego, CA 92152 Attn: Library

Dr. Leon Naurocki U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

20

Dr. Donald A. Norman Dept. of Psychology C-009 University of California, San Diego La Jolla, CA 92093

Dr. Harold F. O'Neil, Jr. Advanced Research Projects Agency Cybernetics Technology, Room 623 1400 Hilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209

Mr. Thomas C. O'Sullivan TRAC 1220 Sunset Plaza Dr. Los Angeles, CA 90069

ONR Branch Office 495 Summer Street Boston, MA 2210 Attn: Dr. James Lester

ONR Branch Office 1030 East Green Street Pasadena, CA 91101 Attn: Dr. Eugene Gloye

ONR Branch Office 536 S. Clark Street Chicago, IL 60605 Attn: Dr. Charles E. Davis

Office of Naval Research Code 200 Arlington, VA 22217

Mr. Luigi Petrullo 2431 N. Edgewood St., Arlington, VA 22207

Dr. Kenneth A. Polycyn PCR Information Sciences Co. Communication Satellite Applications 7600 Old Springhouse Rd. McLean, VA 22101

Principal Civilian Advisor for Education and Training Naval Training Command, Code OOA Pensacola, FL 32508 Attn: Dr. William L. Maloy

R.Dir. H. Rauch P II 4 Bundesministerium der Verteidigung Postfach 161 53 Bonn 1, GERMANY

Research Branch AFNPC-DPNYP Randolph AFB, TX 78148

Dr. Joseph II. Rigney University of So. California Bohavioral Technology Laboratories 3717 S. Grand Los Angeles, CA 90007

Dr. Marty Rockway IAFHRL-TTI Lowry AFB Colorado 80230

Dr. Andrew M. Rose American Institutes for Research 1055 Thomas Jefferson St. NH Hashington, DC 20007

21

Dr. Leonard L. Rosenbaum Chairman Dept. of Psychology Montgomery College Rockville, MD 20850

Dr. Horth Scanland Chief of Naval Education & Training NAS, Pensacola, FL 32508

Scientific Advisor to the Chief of Naval Personnel IPers Orl Naval Bureau of Personnel Room 4410, Arlington Annex Hashington, DC 20370

Dr. Robert J. Seidel Instructional Technology Group, HumRRC 300 N. Hashington St. Alexandria, VA 22314

A.A. Sjoholm, Head Technical Support Navy Personnel R&D Center Code 201 San Diogo, CA 92152

Dr. A. L. Slafkosky Scientific Advisor (Code RD-1) HQ, U.S. Marine Corps Washington, DC 20380

Dr. Marshall S. Smith Associate Director NIE-OPEPA National Institute of Education Washington, DC 20208

Dr. Alfred F. Smode, Director Training Analysis & Evaluation Group Department of the Navy Orlando, FL 32813

Dr. Richard Snow Stanford University School of Education Stanford, CR 94305

LCDR J.H. Snyder, Jr. F-14 Training Model Manager VF-124 San Diego, CA 92025

Dr. Hilliam Strobie McDonnell-Douglas Astronautics Co. East Lowry AFB Denver, CO 80230

Dr. Persis Sturgis Dept. of Psychology Calfiornia State University-Chico Chico, CA 95926

Superintendent (Code 1424) Naval Postgraduate School Monterey, CA 93940

Technical Director U.S. Army Resnarch Institute for the Behavioral & Social Sciences 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209 Capt. Jack Thorpe, USAF AFHRL-FTS Williams AFB, AZ 85224

Mr. Walt W. Tornow Control Data Corporation Corporate Personnel Research P.O. Box 0-HON060 Minneapolis, MN 55440

Dr. Benton J. Underwood Dept. of Psychology Northwestern University Evanston, IL 60201

Dr. Carl R. Vest Battelle Memorial Institute Washington Operations 2030 M Street NW Washington, DC 20036

Dr. Joseph Hard U.S. Army Research Institute 1300 Hilson Boulevard Arlington, VA 22209

Dr. Claire E. Heinstein Educational Psychology Dept. University of Texas at Austin Austin, TX 78712

Dr. David J. Heiss Dept. of Psychology N660 Eliott Hall University of Minnesota Minneapolis, MN 55455

Dr. Keith Hescourt Dept. of Psychology Stanford University Stanford, CA 94305

Dr. Joseph L. Young Director Memory & Cognitive Processes National Science Foundation Washington, DC 20550

Robert Young Advanced Research Projects Agency 1400 Hilson Blvd. Arlington, VA 22209

122



